
LICENSING COMMITTEE 
(LICENSING ACT 2003) 

Wednesday, 11th January, 2017

At the rising of the 
Licensing Committee

Town Hall, Watford

Publication date: 21 December 2016

Contact
If you require further information or you would like a copy of this agenda in another format, 
e.g. large print, please contact Jodie Kloss/Alan Garside in Democracy and Governance on 
01923 278376 or by email to legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk .

mailto:legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk


Welcome to this meeting.  We hope you find these notes useful.

Access

Access to the Town Hall after 5.15 pm is via the entrance to the Customer Service Centre 
from the visitors’ car park.

Visitors may park in the staff car park after 4.00 p.m.  This is a Pay and Display car park.  
From 1 April 2016 the flat rate charge is £2.00.  

The Committee Rooms are on the first floor of the Town Hall and a lift is available.
Induction loops are available in the Committee Rooms and the Council Chamber.

Fire / Emergency Instructions

In the event of a fire alarm sounding, vacate the building immediately following the 
instructions given by the Democratic Services Officer.

 Do not use the lifts
 Do not stop to collect personal belongings
 Go to the assembly point at the Pond and wait for further instructions
 Do not re-enter the building until authorised to do so.

Mobile Phones

Please ensure that mobile phones are switched off or on silent before the start of the 
meeting.

Filming / Photography / Recording / Reporting

Please note: this meeting might be filmed / photographed / recorded / reported by a party 
other than Watford Borough Council for subsequent broadcast or publication.

If you do not wish to have your image / voice captured you should let the Chair or 
Democratic Services Officer know before the start of the meeting.

An audio recording may be taken at this meeting for administrative purposes only.



Committee Membership

Councillor K Crout (Chair)
Councillor J Fahmy (Vice-Chair)
Councillors S Bolton, J Connal, A Dychton, K Hastrick, M Hofman, Ahsan Khan, R Laird, 
B Mauthoor, M Mills, A Rindl, G Saffery, D Scudder and M Turmaine

Agenda

Part A - Open to the Public

1. Apologies for absence/ committee membership 

2. Disclosure of interests (if any) 

3. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 29 February 2016 to be submitted and signed.

Copies of the minutes of this meeting are usually available seven working days 
following the meeting.

(All minutes are available on the Council’s website.)

4. Licensing Sub-Committee minutes and update 

Since the last Committee the following Licensing Sub-Committee hearings have 
taken place:

 7 March 2016 – Watford Football Club – Councillors G Derbyshire (Chair), S 
Bolton and T Rogers

 7 April 2016 – 143 Bar – Councillors G Derbyshire (Chair), T Rogers and M 
Watkin

 27 April 2016 – SMAK – Councillor K Hastrick (Chair) and I Brown
 21 November 2016 – Melo Café – Councillors K Crout (Chair), S Bolton and J 

Connal
 24 November 2016 – DKSR – Councillors J Fahmy (Chair), J Connal and M 

Hofman

Licensing Sub-Committee minutes are available to view on the Council’s website:
 http://watford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=133 

The minutes to be submitted for signature. 

http://watford.moderngov.co.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
http://watford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=133


5. Licensing Act 2003 Annual Report for 2016 (Pages 5 - 22)

Report of the Head of Community and Customer Services

The Committee is asked to note the Annual Report for 2016.



PART A 

Report to: Licensing Committee (Licensing Act 2003)
Date of meeting: 11 January 2017
Report of: Head of Community and Customer Services
Title: Licensing Act 2003 Annual Report for 2016

1.0 SUMMARY

1.1 The Council is responsible under the Licensing Act 2003, which came into 
force on 24 November 2005, for licensing the sale of alcohol and provision of 
regulated entertainment and late night refreshment within the Borough.  
This is the tenth annual report on the operation of the Act within the 
Borough.

1.2 Watford’s continuing economic confidence seems to be reflected in the 
leisure and retail sector, with several new premises being licensed during 
2016, a further increase in the number of premises licensed within the 
Borough overall, and more licence applications expected in the coming year.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 That the Licensing Committee notes the report.  

Contact Officer:
For further information on this report please contact: 
Austen Young (Senior Licensing Officer) on telephone extension: 8474, email: 
austen.young@watford.gov.uk 

Report approved by:  
Alan Gough, Head of Community and Customer Services

Page 5

Agenda Item 5

mailto:austen.young@watford.gov.uk


3.0 Introduction

3.1 Under the Licensing Act 2003, Watford Borough Council has responsibility for 
licensing alcohol, regulated entertainment and late night refreshment. This 
encompasses the determination, grant, administration and enforcement of 
premises licences, club premises certificates, personal licences and temporary 
event notices to authorise those activities to take place.

3.2 The Act requires the licensing authority to produce a statement of licensing policy 
in consultation with specified stakeholders. Any decisions in relation to the Act 
must be in furtherance of the prevention of crime and disorder; public safety; the 
prevention of public nuisance; and the protection of children from harm. The 
licensing authority is required to have regard to statutory guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State in the exercise of its functions.

3.3 There were 327 licensed premises (including 19 qualifying clubs) licensed under the 
Act as of 20 December 2016. This is an increase of 7 from 2015. 

3.4 According to the last published national statistics1 there were 210,000 licensed 
premises (up from 204,300 as of March 2014, when the last figures were collated) 
which was a 3% increase, and 14,700 club premises certificates (down from 15,400) 
which was a 5% decrease. 

3.5 When studying the figures for Watford, it can be seen that the total number of 
licensed premises is still growing, although slightly less than the national average. It 
is noted that we have not lost any club premises which bucks the national trend.

3.6 In 2016 there were 12 hearings scheduled, of which 7 were withdrawn (vacated).   

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Scheduled 
hearings

21 28 27 31 26 10 12 12

Vacated 
hearings 

7 13 7 11 7 1 5 7

3.7 Of these hearings, the Police submitted representations against three applications 
(compared to eight in 2015, seven in 2014, and one in 2013). Residents submitted 
representations against six applications (compared to nine in 2015). One 
representation was submitted by a Councillor (compared to none in 2015). The 
licensing authority submitted representations against three applications (compared 

1 Alcohol and late night refreshment licensing England and Wales 31 March 2016 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alcohol-and-late-night-refreshment-licensing-england-
and-wales-31-march-2016/alcohol-and-late-night-refreshment-licensing-england-and-wales-31-march-
2016) 

Page 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alcohol-and-late-night-refreshment-licensing-england-and-wales-31-march-2016/alcohol-and-late-night-refreshment-licensing-england-and-wales-31-march-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alcohol-and-late-night-refreshment-licensing-england-and-wales-31-march-2016/alcohol-and-late-night-refreshment-licensing-england-and-wales-31-march-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alcohol-and-late-night-refreshment-licensing-england-and-wales-31-march-2016/alcohol-and-late-night-refreshment-licensing-england-and-wales-31-march-2016


to seven in 2014 and again in 2015). No representations were received from any 
other responsible authority, including Environmental Health, which concluded in a 
hearing.

3.8 The decision for the licensing authority to submit representations is not made 
lightly, and officers are most likely to submit representations against applications 
falling within the town centre or one of the council’s sensitive licensing areas. The 
representations submitted by officers in 2016 were all submitted against 
applications which fell within a sensitive licensing area.

3.9 There is a continuing trend of hearings being vacated, and for the first time, more 
than half of scheduled hearings were vacated. Even when a hearing does proceed, 
officers still continue to encourage mediation and discussion, even right up until 
the hearing itself, as happened in a recent hearing in November.  This should be 
seen as a positive reflection of the success and strength of the current Statement of 
Licensing Policy and officers’ skills in negotiating agreeable applications consistent 
with the aspirations for the Borough and its residents.

3.10 With the changes to the licensing team over the last 12 months, including a drive in 
making the team more approachable to businesses, it is anticipated that we will be 
able to give more pre-application advice to businesses, whether they already hold a 
licence or not, potentially decreasing the need for the licensing authority, or other 
responsible authorities, to submit formal representations and instead engage in 
dialogue before an application is submitted.

3.11 26 new premises licences were applied for in 2016 (compared to 27 in 2015, 15 in 
2014, 20 in 2013, 8 in 2012, 18 in 2011 and 12 in 2010) in respect of:

Alcohol on-sales and other 
licensable activities

(13 applications in 2015)

Red Lion
Gabriel’s Bakery, 67 Vicarage Road *
Gabriel’s, 69 Vicarage Road *
Jimmy’s World Grill & Bar
Melo Restaurant
Las Iguanas
Five Guys
Gabriel's Bakery, 65 Vicarage Road
Gabriel’s, 69 Vicarage Road (2nd 
application) *
Gabriel's Bar & Lounge, 65 Vicarage Road 
(2nd application)
D20 Board Game Café
Zara Mangal
TGI Friday’s

Page 7



Premier Inn
DF Mexico
Byron
Yo! Sushi

Alcohol off-sales
(seven applications in 2015)

SMAK
Watford Convenience Store
Maria
Candies
TBHI
Drinks on the Run
DKSR Supermarket

Late-night refreshment only
(seven applications in 2015)

Pepe’s Piri Piri
Quizno’s

Regulated entertainment only
(no applications in 2015)

None made this year 

* Application subsequently withdrawn

3.12 Licence Variations
The table below sets out the number of licence variations received, both for minor 
variations and for full licence variations. 

Five full variations received representations, with two requiring a hearing. Of the 
three applications where no hearing was held, on two occasions the objectors and 
the applicant were able to address concerns without the need for a hearing, and 
the final application was withdrawn. One minor variation was withdrawn, but all 
others were granted.

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Full variations 20 11 12 37 9 8 22 6 10
Minor variations* N/A 5 13 19 30 29 10 19 6

*  minor variations only came into force in July 2009

3.13 Changes to Licences
The table below sets out the number of licence transfers, changes of designated 
premises supervisors (DPS), and interim authorities received up to 20 December 
2016. No objections were lodged by the police to any transfer or change of DPS.

Page 8



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Licence transfer 27 26 25 28 23 24 23 30 29
Variation to 
designated 
premises 
supervisor

91 94 55 80 50 78 50 59 57

Interim authority 
notices

2 2 0 3 0 0 1 0 0

3.14 Although there has not been an increase in applications, we are expecting further 
applications, particular in relation to the Charter Place development where there 
are five restaurant units which are not yet assigned to tenants and may require 
licensing, as well as the cinema itself. The figures for all applications are roughly in 
line with previous figures, and the figures on their own are not an immediate cause 
for concern. Last year officers advised that we would continue to monitor the 
licensing policy as a result of a fall in licence variations, and it was acknowledged 
that this could mean that most premises already had maximum hours under the 
licensing policy. This figure has increased slightly this year, and so this may be a 
statistic which is in flux, and it is noted that six of the nine full variations which 
were submitted were requesting additional hours, but officers will continue to 
monitor the effectiveness of the licensing policy.

3.15 Surrendered Licences
The table below shows the number of surrendered licences:

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
3* 4* 3* 9 8 5* 6* 8 5* 10* 6*

* new licences were also applied for in lieu of some of those that were surrendered 

3.16 There were 6 premises licences surrendered in 2016. Of those licences which were 
surrendered, three premises have obtained new licences. Of the other premises, 
one is already open for a different, non-licensable purpose, and the final two 
premises are currently empty. Any person wishing to move into these empty 
premises and provide licensable activities will need to obtain new licences.

There were also 7 premises licence which lapsed in 2016. Of these licences, two 
lapsed because the licence holders entered administration, three lapsed upon 
entering liquidation, and two lapsed because the licence holders were declared 
bankrupt. Of these licences which lapsed, two have since obtained new licences 
and have reopened. Two were reinstated under the provisions of the Licensing Act 
2003, allowing these premises to trade again, but one of these licences was later 
surrendered. One premises is currently operating under different owners but not 

Page 9



providing licensable activities. The remaining properties are currently empty, and 
any parties wishing to move into this empty premises and provide licensable 
activities will need to obtain a new licence.

3.17 Appeals
There have been no appeals lodged in relation to an application under the Licensing 
Act 2003 in 2016.

3.18 Temporary Event Notices
The chart below indicates the number of temporary event notices (TENs) received 
each year by the council, 85 of which were for alcohol sales alone. As with other 
figures in this report, the figures for 2016 are only up to 20 December 2016. No 
TENs were required to go to a hearing because of representations, although the 
Police did submit formal representations against one TEN, with the TEN being 
withdrawn before a hearing was required. Three further TENs were withdrawn 
following discussions with the Police, but did not involve a hearing being arranged.

Year Number of TENs Received
2005 88*
2006 188
2007 218
2008 237
2009 243
2010 251
2011 237
2012 206
2013 281
2014 325
2015 323
2016 342

*  Only relates to 24 November (when the Act commenced) to 31 December 2005

3.19 TENs continue to be primarily given in respect of premises that are already 
licensed, but the gap between licensed premises and non-licensed premises has 
closed considerably over the last year. 100 TENs were given by community 
premises, such as schools, churches and community centres, which is double the 
number given last year (where 50 TENs were given by such premises). The most 
popular months for TENs remain those with bank holidays (such as May and 
August) to be used as extensions to existing licences, with December being the 
most popular month. 20 notices were rejected as being invalid (compared to ten in 
2015) and nine were withdrawn (six in 2015). Three notices were withdrawn 
because of concerns from the Police as mentioned above, with the others being 

Page 10



withdrawn because the TENs were no longer needed.
 

3.20 Personal licences
The table below shows the numbers of personal licences issued since 2005.  There 
were no applications referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee owing to police 
representations during the year.

Year Number of personal licences
2005 303
2006 115
2007 74
2008 80
2009 81
2010 72
2011 62
2012 80
2013 85
2014 66
2015 69
2016 79

3.21 As far as officers are aware, none of the personal licences issued by the licensing 
authority have been revoked by the courts following convictions for a relevant 
offence.  However there remain concerns nationally that not all licensees appearing 
before criminal courts disclose the fact they are personal licence holders (as legally 
obliged to), and that the courts do not properly understand their powers in such 
circumstances.

3.22 Statement of licensing policy
The table below sets out applications for new and varied premises licences within 
the town centre covered by policy LP3 Creating a Family-Friendly Town Centre, 
although it should be borne in mind that the area was slightly enlarged in January 
2011.

Applications Hearings not 
required

Applications 
where 

cumulative 
impact policy did 

not apply2

Appeals 
against sub-
committee’s 

decisions

2005/6 27 3 12 3
2007 10 1 5 0

2 This is because either alcohol sales were not the principal activity or where the application was not 
intended to extend the hours beyond the suggested hours under policy LP2.  

Page 11



2008 14 2 4 2
2009 11 1 0 1
2010 7 0 1 1
2011 8 2 03 0
2012 6 5 1 1
2013 4 3 3 0
2014 3 0 3 0
2015 20 11 4 2
2016 17 13 15 0

3.23 This table indicates that four applications resulted in a hearing. However, officers 
can confirm that only one application resulted in a hearing. One application was 
withdrawn (therefore it was neither granted nor resulted in a hearing), and two 
applications under policy LP3 have only recently been made, and so were not 
determined at the time of writing this report
 

3.24 According to Government figures, as of 31 March 2016 (the latest available) there 
were 215 cumulative impact areas in England and Wales.

3.25 Sensitive Licensing Areas
The three Sensitive Licensing Areas were introduced in 2011 to recognise 
community concerns about particular pockets of licensed premises. In 2016, six 
new licence applications were received in the sensitive licensing areas (two in 
Market Street, two in Whippendell Road, one in Queens Road, and one in St Albans 
Road), and one variation application was received (in Whippendell Road). Officers 
were involved in negotiating additional conditions regarding the availability of 
super strength alcohol, and to address any concerns over street drinkers being 
attracted to these premises. The licensing authority submitted representations 
against three applications. Two were refused, and one was granted upon 
acceptance of conditions.

3.26 Compliance and Enforcement 
The council’s Business Compliance Officer, Environmental Health Officers, Police 
(including Special Constables) and Trading Standards have continued to work 
proactively and reactively to ensure compliance with licensing legislation.  As 
shown below the number of complaints received about premises was very low. This 
is seen as very positive indication of the controls, management and proactive 
approach taken towards compliance by both officers and operators in Watford.  
The use of the Best Bar None award scheme is an example of a tool to proactively 
improve standards without the need for formal enforcement action. Officers 
continue to support PubWatch, as well as meeting premises on request to discuss 
any issues. At the same time any issues of non-compliance that officers become 

3 New exceptions set out in policy LP3 applied to applications from January 2011 

Page 12



aware of through regular visits and patrols are dealt with swiftly and in accordance 
with the council’s published enforcement policy. 

3.27 The licensing authority continues to receive a small number of complaints about 
activities which are regulated by the Licensing Act 2003. Out of 122 complaints in 
total during 2016 (down from 149 in 2015), only 12 were relevant to the Licensing 
Act (12 in 2015).  After investigating these complaints, enforcement action was 
taken against two premises, with one licence holder being issued a formal warning, 
and one licence holder accepting a formal caution, both for breaching their licence 
conditions. No formal enforcement action was taken in any other case required, 
although contact has been made with all premises and their management to work 
through the issues raised.  

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Premises opening 
hours

4 1 4 1 1 0 1 2 5

Door supervisors 2 0 2 2 1 2 1 0 1
Noise from premises 11 5 8 5 1 4 0 1 7
Underage sales 4 3 0 2 1 2 1 1 0
Advertisements 0 2 0 0 1 1 1 0 0
Unlicensed 
activities/other

1 1 5 2 1 0 1 4 2

Public safety 0 0 1 3 0 0 1 0 0
Child protection 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 2
Crime and disorder 3 3 1 2 0 0 1 3 2

3.28 Licensing Reviews

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Number of 
review 
applications

1 0 0 3 0 3 4 1 0 0

3.29 There were no reviews submitted within 2016. As mentioned in 3.27 although 
complaints were received about premises, we have been able to address these 
concerns through working with businesses without the need for complainants or 
any responsible authorities resorting to a review.

3.30 Looking forward
As of 1 April 2017, there will be changes implemented to business rates which will 
have implications for both licensed premises and the licensing authority. This will 
be the first time in 7 years that the level of business rates paid by businesses has 
been reviewed. The majority of licensed premises are scheduled to benefit from 

Page 13



these changes, although the Government are still due to respond as to whether 
there will be any changes to how business rates are calculated. Under the current 
system, over half of premises will see no increase to their business rates, and 
nearly a third (31%) of licensed premises are actually due to see their rateable 
values decrease. Business will also benefit from the extension of business rate 
relief. Businesses with a rateable value of up to £12,000 will be entitled to 100% 
rate relief, with businesses with a rateable value of between £12,000 and £15,000 
being entitled to a tapering rate relief. The current government proposals are also 
to allow businesses with a rateable value of up to £51,000 to benefit from small 
business relief, meaning that they will be paying less as a proportion than 
businesses with a higher rateable value. The vast majority of licensed businesses 
(at least 65%) have a rateable value of less than £51,000, with a high proportion 
falling below £15,000, and so stand to benefit from lower business rates than 
under the current business rates scheme.

3.31 It should be noted that the annual licence fee paid by businesses in respect of their 
Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates is based upon the rateable value 
of the particular premises. Based upon the recalculated rateable values, the 
amount that the licensing authority receives in annual fees is due to decrease from 
£74,775 to £70,300. Members are reminded that the annual fee is set in legislation, 
and is to fund the activities of the licensing authority in regards to carrying out its 
duties under the Licensing Act 2003 (excluding enforcement against unlicensed 
operators). These annual fee figures are based upon the current number of issued 
licences, and as mentioned elsewhere in this report, there are expectations of 
further licence applications, particularly in relation to the Charter Place 
development.

3.32 In March 2016, the Government published its Modern Crime Prevention Strategy4, 
which included measures and proposals which could make an impact in 2017 and 
beyond, and does focus upon alcohol as a driver of crime. The strategy lays out 
that preventing alcohol-related crime and disorder requires a three-pronged 
approach:

 Improving local intelligence so that decisions taken about the sale of alcohol 
and the management of the evening and night time economy are based on 
reliable data and the latest evidence. For example by publishing information 
about where alcohol-related crime and disorder is occurring on police.uk.

 Establishing effective local partnerships where all those involved in the 
operation and management of the evening and night time economy work, so 
that people can enjoy a safe night out without fear of becoming a victim of 
alcohol-related crime or disorder, enabling local economies to grow. Including 
by providing support to local authorities, the police and health partners to 
create safe spaces.

4 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/modern-crime-prevention-strategy

Page 14



 Equipping the police and local authorities with the right powers so they can 
take swift and decisive action after problems have occurred and to prevent 
their repeat. For example we will future-proof changes to the police 
workforce by giving civilian staff powers of entry to enter and inspect licensed 
premises. 

3.33 Officers already have a good working relationship with other external authorities, 
particularly the Police, and there are data sharing protocols already in place. We 
will continue to liaise closely with our partners in identifying issues, and providing 
advice on the tools available through the licensing regime. The town centre has 
again received accreditation under the Purple Flag scheme for the night time 
economy. With regards to regulatory powers, the Government are reviewing the 
current regulatory toolkit, and officers will continue to watch out for updates.

3.34 A House of Lords Select Committee is currently considering the Licensing Act 2003 
and its effectiveness, and the Committee is expected to report its findings to the 
Government in April 2017. Members may be aware that the licensing authority 
were invited to submit written evidence to this Committee, and our response, 
which received contributions from officers and the Chair and Vice-Chair of the 
Licensing Committee, can be found at appendix 1. Officers will wait to see what 
actions the Committee propose, and will assess what these measures could mean 
for Watford once they have been published.

3.35 Parliament is currently considering the Policing and Crime Bill 20165, which is 
proposed to contain further amendments to the Licensing Act 2003 if it is passed. It 
is proposed to amend the definition of alcohol, to include alcohol in any state, 
following concerns raised to the Government over the rise of ‘cloud’ bars, whereby 
alcohol was vapourised and pumped into a room, where customers inhaled the 
alcohol. This has not been a concern within Watford.

3.36 The Policing and Crime Bill also proposes to give Cumulative Impact Policies a 
statutory footing. Members are reminded that Watford does have a cumulative 
impact policy, which is policy LP3 of the councils licensing policy (Creating a Family-
Friendly Town Centre). By giving such policies a statutory footing, they become a 
formal part of the licensing process, and will assist in strengthening controls and 
addressing the problems caused through a saturation of any particular type of 
premises. However, such policies will be required to be reviewed every three years 
by the Licensing Committee, and the evidence both for and against continuing with 
such a policy will need to be assessed. In a briefing from the Home Office, it was 
confirmed that the current policy does not need to be reviewed, but must be 
reviewed no later than three years after the relevant section of the Policing and 
Crime Act is implemented.

5 http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/lbill/2016-2017/0072/17072.pdf

Page 15



3.37 The Policing and Crime Bill also proposes to make changes to the Late Night Levy. 
Watford has not adopted such a levy, and officers would advise that there are no 
immediate calls for a levy to be introduced. The Late Night Levy is a levy on 
premises licensed for the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises between 
00:00 and 06:00. Any money received under this levy is split between the licensing 
authority and the Police, with 70% of all revenue going to the Police. The levy must 
apply to the whole of the licensing authority’s area. The proposals around levies 
include being able to limit the target area of the levy to a specific geographic area 
(such as a town centre) instead of the whole borough, extending the levy to 
takeaways, allowing the Police to formally request a licensing authority to consider 
a levy, and requiring the Police and licensing authority to publish details of how all 
money raised through a levy is spent.

3.38 It is mentioned earlier in this report that there were national concerns that not all 
licensees appearing before criminal courts disclose the fact they are personal 
licence holders (a statutory requirement) and that the courts do not properly 
understand that they have a right to suspend a personal licence or require that a 
personal licence be forfeited where a licensee is convicted of a ‘relevant offence’. 
The Policing and Crime Bill contains a proposal that licensing authorities be given 
the power to suspend or revoke a personal licence when they are made aware of a 
licence holder having committed an offence. There will need to be increased data 
sharing between the courts, the Police, and licensing authorities in order for this 
information to come to light, but there are plans to close this perceived loophole 
which could allow irresponsible licensees to retain their personal licences, and 
potentially remain as a designated premises supervisor for a premises.

3.39 There are measures contained within the Immigration Act 2016 which will have an 
impact on licensing and processing licensing applications. It is likely that the 
relevant sections of the Act will be commenced in April 2017, although some 
provisions are already in force for other licensing regimes, particularly with regards 
to taxi licensing. The Act introduces immigration enforcement as a new responsible 
authority, meaning that they could object to licence applications if they have any 
concerns over applicants for licences and either their right to stay and work in the 
country, or over the employment of illegal workers. They will also have the power 
to call for a review of a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate if illegal 
workers have been employed at that premises. Individual applicants for Premises 
Licences or Personal Licences will also be required to prove their right to work 
when submitting these applications.

3.40 Officers do not envisage that the Immigration Act will have a significant impact on 
the work of the licensing authority. We are already notified when it is suspected 
that immigration offences may have been committed at a licensed premises, and 

Page 16



such occurrences have been rare. Immigration enforcement teams only take action 
based upon intelligence, and the lack of action against licensed premises in 
Watford is a positive sign in that there is not widespread concern over the 
employment of illegal workers within Watford. Within the last year, officers have 
also met with our local field intelligence officer for immigration enforcement, and 
so we have good links with the Home Office and immigration enforcement. Officers 
are experienced in checking identification documents in relation to applicants for 
taxi licences, and so there is no requirement for extra resources or training in 
assessing an applicant’s right to work and residence status for applications under 
the Licensing Act.

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Financial

4.1.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  

4.2 Legal Issues (Monitoring Officer)

4.2.1 The Head of Democracy and Governance comments that there are no legal 
implications arising from this report.

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Letter to the Select Committee on the Licensing Act 2003

Background Papers

File Reference
None

Page 17





APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Town Hall, Watford, WD17 3EX 

T 01923 226400  F 01923 278100 

DX 51529 Watford 2 

enquiries@watford.gov.uk 

watford.gov.uk 

 

  
 

Select Committee on the Licensing Act 2003 

House of Lords 

London  

SW1A 0PW 

Reply to: 

Telephone: 

Our Reference: 

Your reference: 

Date: 

Licensing team 

01923 278476 

Select Response 

 

2 September 2016 

 Email: licensing@watford.gov.uk 

 

Dear Sirs 

 

Watford Borough Council wish to respond to the Select Committee’s call for evidence with regards to 

the Licensing Act 2003 (‘the Act’). We are grateful for the opportunity to contribute to this 

Committee. 

 

Our submission to the Committee is as follows.  

 

The council are of the opinion that that the existing licensing objectives are sufficiently broad enough 

to be adequate for purpose, and therefore should remain in place and prescribed by the Act. 

However, it is recommended that there should be a fifth licensing objective concerning public health. 

 

It is considered that a public health objective would be beneficial in assessing the potential impact of 

a licence application, as well as the risk and harm posed by existing operators. Such an objective 

would strengthen the council’s position when it is deemed appropriate to attach conditions to a 

licence as an appropriate measure to promote the licensing objectives. There would obviously need 

to be clear guidance issued under s182 of the Act to assist in the implementation and adoption of this 

objective. 

 

The impact of such an objective would only be felt with more informed data being gathered by the 

NHS, Health and Wellbeing boards, and local authorities. The s182 guidance may be a tool with which 

to encourage data sharing and interpretation, although not being too restrictive so that the final 

decision on the use of the data is made at a local level. 

 

The success of a public health objective will also depend heavily upon the national approach towards 

alcohol. Councillor Tony Page, in his submission to this Committee in July 2016 stated that, although 

alcohol sales may be reducing, the overall harm that the country is seeing from alcohol is not 

reducing, and that there has been a significant shift towards people focussing on one or two big 

nights out in the week. In this regard, we request that the Committee urges the Government to issue 

a clear statement on alcohol and its place within society. A clear statement of intent is required to 

Page 19



assist the decision making process, both in terms of licensing authorities, responsible authorities 

including the Police and Public Health authorities, and the courts, in order to try and reduce the harm 

from alcohol. 

 

The council agrees that Cumulative Impact Policies (CIPs) should be given a statutory footing, to 

strengthen the ability of authorities to control the availability of alcohol and reduce alcohol-related 

crime and disorder, as recommended in the Home Office’s Modern Crime Prevention Strategy (March 

2016). It is not felt that there are many other changes required to licensing policies, provided that 

they remain as being set at the local level. 

 

It is not felt that there are any additional steps which are particularly required to promote 

community activities and engagement, and licensing authorities can already choose to emphasise the 

desire for such events within their licensing policies. A few examples can be through not requiring 

strict conditions on community premises, providing advice to community groups to assist them 

through the licensing process, or by actively stating that they wish to encourage more community 

based events. 

 

It is appreciated that community premises can already exempt themselves from the requirement to 

have a Designated Premises Supervisor, can benefit from an increased number of Temporary Event 

Notices as a result of the Deregulation Act 2015, and can provide deregulated entertainment without 

the need for a licence. However, there is a query over how this information is being dissipated to 

community premises and through communities, and it may be that this information is not being 

made as widely available as it could be. 

 

The council does not feel that Late Night Levies and Early Morning Restriction Orders are necessarily 

appropriate tools within the licensing system and as such these have not yet been adopted within 

Watford. We consider a partnership approach and positive compliance to be more efficient tools in 

promoting standards, highlight local issues and trends, and recognising good business practice, 

through using Pubwatch and similar forums, the Best Bar None scheme, or even Business 

Improvement Districts. 

 

We believe that it is right to review the requirement to advertise licensing applications in a local 

newspaper. We understand from applicants that the cost of a newspaper advertisement is 

disproportionate to the cost of a licence application, and is considered to be a burden upon 

applicants. There is also a question over how relevant it is to publish adverts in local publications, and 

whether this advertising is at all effective. 

 

We wish to stress that licensing fees do need to be set at a local level, by licensing authorities, and 

not nationally. Doing so would allow local authorities to reflect the actual costs of processing 

Page 20



applications. The LGA survey into licensing fees, published July 2016, reports that local government 

as a whole suffers an annual deficit of approximately £10.3 million due to fees not being set at 

appropriate levels. The average deficit is calculated to be £29,680. It is not appropriate that residents 

or other licensed businesses effectively subsidise premises licensed under the Act. Local authorities 

have the discretion to set licence fees for other licensing regimes on a cost recovery basis, as well as 

through a risk based approach, and we feel that it is sensible and proportionate to extend this power 

to the Act. If local fees are to be adopted, and the requirement to publish a newspaper notice is 

scrapped, then fears over a potential rise in licensing fees can be addressed by removing the financial 

burden of the newspaper notice. 

 

Notably within the LGA survey on fees, it was revealed that the fee which resulted in the highest 

deficit was the fee for Temporary Event Notices (TENs). We believe that there should be an increase 

in the cost of TENs to reflect the costs involved in processing these notices. Although there may be 

fears that a rise in the fees for TENs could adversely affect community associations and non-

profitable organisations, these fears could be allayed by specifying organisations and groups that 

either would pay a reduced fee, the existing fee, or no fee at all, such as how licensing regimes 

already exempt certain groups from requiring authorisation. We would specifically point to Schedule 

3A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended), and the controls around distributing 

leaflets, which specifically exempts religious, charitable, and political organisations from requiring a 

consent. We feel that fees set on risk based approach would again be sensible and proportionate, 

and accurately reflect the cost of processing these notices, not penalising those applicants who 

present little or no risk. 

 

The benefit of local licensing fees could also be felt in encouraging the resurrection of ‘dead’ licences 

and empty premises, thereby providing a boost to the local economy. If there was a mechanism in 

place whereby the annual licence fee could be either deferred or exempted for empty premises, 

because the premises is empty and therefore there is no work or enforcement required for the 

premises under a risk based approach, this would aid new operators to consider taking on an existing 

licence as they would only need to transfer the licence into their name to start benefitting from the 

licence. At the moment, if a premises is empty, the licence fee continues to accumulate, and after 

two years, it is cheaper to obtain a new licence then resurrect an existing licence. This creates an 

unfavourable situation where there could be two licences in place for one premises, and a growing 

debt associated with the licence which is not being utilised, requiring resources to chase this debt 

which ultimately may not be recoverable if the business failed. 

 

An alternative solution to the problem of unpaid licence fees would be to implement the right to 

revoke a licence where the annual fee has not been paid, as is permitted under the Gambling Act 

2005. 

 

Page 21



We do feel that the existing licensing objectives do provide a good basis with which to control 

premises which are licensed for off-sales. Securing statutory protection for CIPs will assist in 

strengthening these controls and the problems caused through a saturation of any particular type of 

premises, and this could include off-licences. A licensing objective which covers public health will also 

help in assessing the licensing of off-sales in areas where it is seen that there are dangerous levels of 

consumption of alcohol and the associated health problems linked to alcohol and alcohol 

dependency. 

 

However, we would express that more support is needed for small and medium enterprises, 

particularly for off-sales. This support is needed in order to gain not only confidence, but experience 

too, in implementing controls and measures to support the licensing objectives. Larger businesses 

have significant resources at their disposal with regards to training and establishing company 

procedures, and these standards do not necessarily filter down to independent retailers. By building 

the resilience of these businesses, and promoting confidence in particular in refusing alcohol sales, 

we feel that the aims of the Act will be supported. 

 

In much broader terms, the prospect of businesses only needing one permission per premises, which 

states what activities can be permitted on that premises, is a desirable one. There would be a benefit 

to applicants as well as to local authorities, not only in reducing the administrative burdens the 

licensing regimes present, but also in clearly stating what activities could take place on certain 

premises, preventing confusion and assisting in enforcement against rogue businesses. This goal may 

be better achieved by combining the licensing and planning regimes, which would also address the 

existing problem of licensing policies not always being compatible with other policies, such as 

planning policies, whether by content or when and how often the policies are implemented and 

reviewed. However, we understand that this is a largescale reform with considerable impact. 

 

We thank you again for this opportunity to provide feedback and to voice our concerns about the 

current operation of the current licensing regime. 

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

Councillor Keith Crout 

Licensing Committee Chair 

Watford Borough Council 

 

 

 

 

Page 22


	Agenda
	5 Licensing Act 2003 Annual Report for 2016
	Lic Cttee - Licensing Act annual report for 2016 - Appendix 1


